
NOTICE OF MEETING

Meeting: COMMUNITY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL

Date and Time: TUESDAY, 14 MARCH 2017, AT 6.00 PM*

Place: THE BRADBURY ROOM, APPLETREE COURT, 
LYNDHURST

Telephone enquiries to: Lyndhurst (023) 8028 5000
023 8028 5588 - Ask for Melanie Stephens
Email: melanie.stephens@nfdc.gov.uk

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:
*Members of the public may speak in accordance with the Council’s public 
participation scheme:
(a) immediately before the meeting starts, on items within the Panel’s terms of 

reference which are not on the public agenda; and/or
(b) on individual items on the public agenda, when the Chairman calls that item.
Speeches may not exceed three minutes.  Anyone wishing to speak should contact 
the name and number shown above.

Bob Jackson
Chief Executive

Appletree Court, Lyndhurst, Hampshire. SO43 7PA
www.newforest.gov.uk

This Agenda is also available on audio tape, in Braille, large print and digital format

AGENDA
Apologies

1.  MINUTES 

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 17 January 2017 as a correct record.

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To note any declarations of interest made by members in connection with an 
agenda item.  The nature of the interest must also be specified.

Members are asked to discuss any possible interests with Democratic Services 
prior to the meeting.



3.  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

To note any issues raised during the public participation period.

4.  KEY ACTIONS AND SERVICE REVIEW PROGRAMME UPDATE (Pages 1 - 2)

To note the progress of the key actions and service reviews under the remit of this 
Panel. 

5.  HOUSING WHITE PAPER (Pages 3 - 10)

To note the contents of the report. 

6.  LEISURE SERVICES REVIEW 

To receive a presentation on the initial scoping of a Health and Leisure service 
review. 

7.  DIBDEN GOLF CENTRE TASK & FINISH GROUP 

To receive a verbal update on the progress of the Group.  

8.  WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 11 - 12)

To consider the Panel’s future work programme, and make changes where 
necessary.

9.  PORTFOLIO HOLDERS' UPDATES 

An opportunity for the Portfolio Holders to provide an update to the Panel on any 
issues.

10.  ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT 

To: Councillors Councillors

S P Davies (Chairman)
D J Russell (Vice-Chairman)
D A Britton
Mrs L D Cerasoli
I C Coombes

Ms K V Crisell
A H G Davis
Mrs P J Lovelace
N S Penman
M L White



COMMUNITY OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL – 14th MARCH 2017

KEY ACTIONS AND SERVICE REVIEW PROGRAMME – UPDATE REPORT

1. INTRODUCTION & PURPOSE

1.1 The corporate plan included a delivery plan which set out a number of key actions 
and reviews for 2016/17.  The delivery plan was set out against the background of 
continued funding reductions.

1.2 This report provides an update on the work being undertaken and savings made, as 
part of the regular monitoring of the delivery plan.

2. KEY DELIVERY ACTIONS AND SERVICE REVIEWS

2.1 The table sets out key delivery actions and service reviews pertinent to the 
Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel and provides progress updates where 
available. 

COMMUNITY OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL

Service Review and Terms of Reference Progress Update

E.2 Housing Strategy
Review the delivery of affordable housing in terms of realistic 
aspirations of the Council and recent changes in the planning 
system.  
Assess the existing constraints and take into account the emerging 
new Government policy advice.  Progress through the local plan 
review

An interim review (Council Housing Buy-Back 
& Development Update 2012/13 – 2015/16 
and Future Strategy 2016/17 – 2018/2019)
has been undertaken and was considered and 
supported by the Community Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel at its meeting on 20 September 
2016

G.3 Community Safety
Review the Council’s involvement in community safety (having 
regard to the Council’s statutory responsibilities)

Service Manager review completed.   
Position of Community Safety Officer deleted 
which contributed to saving of £63,000 
reported previously.  Work attaching to 
Community Safety Officer now undertaken by 
Partnership Intervention Manager, with 
dedicated admin support and significant input 
from Legal Team into safeguarding issues and 
domestic homicide reviews.   Operational 
arrangements of Community Safety 
Partnership reviewed with a single Strategy & 
Delivery Group now responsible for setting 
strategy and monitoring action.

O.2 Health & Leisure Centres
Set financial targets and scope service delivery review to challenge 
existing arrangements and maximise outcomes for the council and 
the customer in the longer term

Scoping of the fundamental review will be 
reported to EMT in March 2017 and will set out 
the objectives and approach to the review
The review will be undertaken in 2017/18 and 
will develop a feasibility report for the 
‘preferred’ options arising from the scoping.
.

O.8 Community Grants
Review financial support and partnership working with community 
groups

Completed
A review has been undertaken of the 
arrangements for community grants which has 
made the process more transparent with 
greater engagement.

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



2.2 The savings identified to date are annual and ongoing, and directly contribute to the 
funding shortfall identified in the medium term financial plan.
 

2.3 Reviews will continue to be monitored and reported upon to ensure they are 
progressing and that objectives of the review are being met.  

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

3.1 A clear focus of the reviews is continued financial responsibility with a view to 
easing funding pressures.

4. RECOMMENDATIONS

4.1 That the Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel note the progress updates 
contained within this report. 

For Further Information Please Contact: Background Papers

Rebecca Drummond
Service Manager – Business Improvement 
and Customer Services
Tel: 023 8028 5588
E Mail: rebecca.drummond@nfdc.gov.uk

Key Action and Service Review Programme 
Report – EMT June 2016
Our corporate plan 2016-2020 Delivery Plan 
Cabinet Report  Feb 2016

Page 2

mailto:rebecca.drummond@nfdc.gov.uk


ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL – 9 MARCH 2017
COMMUNITY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL - 14 MARCH 2017
CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL – 16 MARCH 2017

THE HOUSING WHITE PAPER

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 In the forward to this paper the Prime Minister says that “Our broken housing market 
is one of the greatest barriers to progress in Britain today.  We need to build many 
more houses, of the type people want to live in, in the places they want to live. To do 
so requires a comprehensive approach that tackles failure at every point in the 
system”.

1.2 The paper sets out its proposals in four sections:-

 Planning for the right homes in the right places
 Building homes faster
 Diversifying the market
 Helping people now

It is a consultation document and the answers to 38 set questions are required by 2 
May 2017.

1.3 This paper looks at the main issues raised which are most relevant from this 
Council’s perspective.  It provides a commentary on those matters and may help 
formulate a response to the consultation in due course.

2.0 MAIN PROPOSALS

2.1 There is an introductory section to the White Paper which sets out the scale of the 
problem and says that the Government cannot solve it alone.  It says that it is vital to 
have local leadership and commitment from a wide range of stakeholders including 
local authorities, private developers, housing associations, lenders and local 
communities.  In particular, the Government expect local authorities to be as 
ambitious and innovative as possible to get homes built in their area.  It talks about 
bespoke deals for innovative schemes, that all authorities must have up-to-date 
development plans and deal with planning applications promptly.  It expects local 
authorities to hold up their end of the bargain, but if they do not the Government will 
intervene.

Commentary

Is this Council being innovative enough in getting new houses built in our area?  We 
have a strategy for building, or acquiring new Council houses in our area but could we 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



be doing more to promote housing association development or other forms of housing 
tenure built in our area?

3.0 PLANNING FOR THE RIGHT HOMES IN THE RIGHT PLACES

3.1 A large part of this section is about Councils getting up-to-date Local Plans approved 
to reflect the Government’s requirement that much more housing land is allocated for 
development.  These plans must then be reviewed at least once every 5 years.  To 
help with this process the Government will consult on introducing a standardised 
national approach to assessing the housing requirements of individual areas and this 
will be in place by April 2018.  This will remove the option of taking different 
approaches to this issue which results; for example, in our consultation draft Local 
Plan talking about this Council’s “Objectively Assessed Need” being between 11,740 
and 13,740 new houses over 20 years.

Commentary

We are currently on track to produce a new Local Plan for submission within the 
Government’s timetable to avoid intervention and we have been fortunate, to date, in 
not facing appeal pressures to release land for housing outside of the Local Plan 
process (with one exception).  If we allow the timetable to slip, or submit a plan which 
is substantially below our needs, this situation is likely to change very quickly.  This 
would result in major implications for the workload of the planning department and 
could result in a lot of poor quality new development missing opportunities to negotiate 
improved infrastructure.

3.2 The White Paper also expects Local Plans to have clear policies for addressing the 
housing requirements of groups with particular needs such as older and disabled 
people.  It also talks about making land ownership and interests more transparent by 
improving the Land Registry and changing contractual arrangements used to control 
land.

3.3 Priority should be given to bringing brownfield land forward for housing development, 
with a presumption in favour of this.  There are opportunities, the White Paper says, to 
go further to meet needs in rural areas and to increase the supply of land to small and 
medium sized house builders.  This is supported by the new Community Housing Fund 
(CHF).

Commentary

NFDC has been allocated up to nearly £1m from the CHF and separate paper will 
bring forward ideas for how this funding can be used.

Page 4



4.0 GREEN BELT 

4.1 The White Paper says that it continues the Government’s commitment to protect the 
Green Belt but there is an interesting, and perhaps significant, change in the wording. 
It says, (my emphasis), that national policy will be amended to make clear that 
authorities should amend Green Belt boundaries only when they have fully examined 
all other reasonable options for meeting their identified development requirements 
including brownfield sites, underused land, optimising densities and exploring whether 
other authorities can help to meet unmet need in a particular area.  It also says that 
Green Belt released in one place should be compensated by enhancement in other 
areas and that the detailed boundaries of a Green Belt can be set in neighbourhood 
plans.

Commentary

The approach we are taking to the Green Belt review in our proposals to move the 
Local Plan forward is consistent with this new guidance.

4.2 The Government has reaffirmed their commitment to Neighbourhood Planning and has 
said they will bring forward legislative change, more funding and new guidance to 
support this.  They consider that such plans should contain detailed design guidance 
so that there is a clear basis on which future decisions can be made.

4.3 A section of the Paper then refers to using land more efficiently for development.  This 
means avoiding building houses at low densities where there is a shortage of land to 
meet demand and looking for high density options in urban areas that are well served 
by public transport such as railway stations.  It also talks about ensuring that the 
density and form of development reflects the character, accessibility and infrastructure 
capacity of an area.

5.0 BUILDING HOMES FASTER

5.1 This section starts by identifying that there is often a substantial time lag between 
planning permission being granted and houses being built.  Two of the main reasons 
for this are perceived to be unnecessary delays caused by (too many) planning 
conditions being imposed and a skills shortage in the construction sector.  The first 
issue will be tackled by trying to limit the number of conditions imposed by requiring 
developer agreement and considering options for reforming the system of developer 
contributions.  Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payments are to be reviewed as 
they are not working as well as expected and Section 106 agreement mechanisms 
could be changed, particularly to deal with financial viability issues.  Skill shortages in 
the construction industry will be tackled through more training in those areas with 
recruitment difficulties and developers are expected to play their full part in this.

5.2 A shortage of skilled resources in planning departments will be addressed by 
increasing planning fees by 20% in July 2017 if an authority pledges to invest the extra 

Page 5



money in their planning department.  A further 20% increase will be considered for 
authorities delivering the homes that their communities require.

5.3 The Government will target the £2.3bn Housing Infrastructure Fund in the areas of 
highest housing need.  This will target the provision of infrastructure (including 
transport and utilities) where this money will unlock the provision of new homes.  Bids 
from local authorities or groups of authorities will be welcomed.  The first year of this 
scheme is 2017 and it will run for four years.  The paper also talks about requiring local 
authorities to have policies to ensure that high quality digital infrastructure is provided 
in new homes and  ensuring  that utility companies do not delay development by not 
investing in their infrastructure in a timely way.

5.4 Developers will be required to make available more information about the rate at which 
they are building out the sites which they control and there will be a consultation on 
whether they might be penalised, for example by the refusal of further planning 
permissions to them, if they have not implemented previous permissions.  There will 
also be a consultation on whether planning permission should be granted for two and 
not three years to encourage quicker implementation.  Planning authorities will be 
given simpler powers to require the completion of developments which have started 
and then stopped and consulted on whether Councils should be encouraged to use 
their compulsory purchase powers to support the build out of stalled sites.

5.5 A new housing delivery test will be introduced for local authorities.  The logic of this is 
that Councils not only have to grant planning permissions for new homes but they will 
also have to ensure that builders deliver them at the annual rate set out in the Local 
Plan.  This will be enforced by requiring Councils to allocate more land for 
development if the annual building rate is below the Local Plan target even though 
they think they have allocated enough land for it to be achieved.  The Government say 
that both Councils and housebuilders need to be held to account to ensure the building 
of the number of new houses which are needed.

Commentary

The issue of planning conditions needs either developers to improve the information 
they submit or the system to be simplified to remove some of the requirements.  The 
review of CIL and Section 106 agreements is to be welcomed.  CIL is not delivering 
the infrastructure which is needed.

The extra fee income is to be welcomed because planning departments will need 
significant additional resources to deliver the new responsibilities which they are being 
given and to deal with the extra workload that many new residential applications will 
require.  New Forest District Council will face this issue later this year.

This Council needs to understand and develop its role in bidding for new infrastructure 
funding to ensure that this area gets access to the public resources available to 
support the building of many new houses.

Page 6



The housing delivery test responsibities on local authorities seems to be 
unreasonable.  Yes, we should grant permissions in a timely way and not overburden 
them with conditions.  But, if a developer or landowner chooses not to build, surely it is 
not fair for the local authority to be penalised for this.  There should be a better 
response to dealing with unreasonable land banking by developers and landowners.

6.0 DIVERSIFYING THE MARKET

6.1 This section starts by setting out that the Government believe that the way in which the 
house building market operates constrains the supply of new homes because there is 
insufficient competition and innovation.

6.2 The new Accelerated Construction programme will help to diversify the market through 
partnering with small and medium sized firms as development partners and 
contractors.  The Government will partner with local authorities to help them bring 
forward their own sites more quickly than they could otherwise.  They will also promote 
custom and self-builders through the sites register and continuing exemptions from CIL 
payments, as well as working with lenders to make funding more readily available.

6.3 The Government want to attract more institutional investment in building more homes 
for rent.  They will change the National Policy Planning Framework to make it easier 
for Build-to-Rent developers to offer affordable private rental homes instead of other 
types of affordable housing.  They will also ensure that family friendly tenancies of 
three or more years are available.

6.4 Housing associations have a vital role to play if we are to build the new homes we 
need.  The Government will encourage them to do more by setting out a rent policy 
after 2020 (but there will be no change to the annual 1% reduction before then), treat 
them as being in the private sector with changes to their regulation, urge them to do 
more building and to improve their efficiency.

6.5 Local authorities should be backed and assisted to build more houses.  They should 
use innovative new models such as local housing companies and/or joint venture 
models in building mixed sites which include new market housing for sale and rent as 
well as affordable housing.  Tailored support packages will be available to Councils 
who want to build on their own land at pace.

“However, we want to see tenants that local authorities place in new affordable 
properties offered equivalent terms to those in Council housing, including a 
right to buy their home.”

6.6 The house building industry should be made more productive. In particular it should 
increase innovation and make greater use of modern methods of construction 
including homes constructed off-site.

Page 7



Commentary

The concept of private institutional developers providing affordable housing for rent, as 
an alternative to other forms of affordable housing, is an interesting one but which 
needs very careful consideration of the details when they emerge.

The encouragement of local authorities to build more and for them to use innovative 
new models to do so is something that this Council is already committed to looking at. 
It will be a disappointment to some that the Government have retained their 
commitment to new Council developed property having to be sold to tenants at a 
discount.

7.0 HELPING PEOPLE NOW

7.1 This section sets out in its introduction that while the Government’s main focus is on 
fixing the housing market in the long term’, there is also clearly a need to intervene to 
help those who are struggling now.  The first part describes the continuation and 
extension of some existing measures such as saving to raise a deposit and equity 
loans.

7.2 Starter homes remain an important part of the strategy but will not be a mandatory 
requirement on all new larger development sites.  Where they are proposed there will 
be a 15 year period in which some or all of the discount must be repaid and they will 
not be available to cash buyers.  They should be provided as part of a mixed package 
of affordable housing and the NPPF will be amended to ensure that all new housing 
sites are expected to deliver a minimum of 10% affordable home ownership units.  It 
will be clarified that starter homes, with appropriate local connection tests, will be 
acceptable on rural exception sites.

7.3 The paper confirms that the pilots allowing housing association tenants to buy their 
homes will continue to be rolled out with right to buy discounts.  Extra money has been 
allocated to the affordable housing programme and this has been expanded to include 
Rent to Buy homes and affordable rent products.

7.4 Measures are set out to remove the worst landlords from operating, making tenancies 
more family friendly and tackling unfair and unreasonable abuses of leasehold.  The 
paper then refers to the Community Housing Fund which is supporting communities 
taking the lead in building homes particularly in areas affected by second homes. 
Returning to the planning side, the Government will be introducing a new statutory 
duty on Councils to ensure that their Local Plans meet the needs of older and disabled 
people.

7.5 The final part of this section is entitled preventing homelessness.  Legislation will be 
introduced placing a duty on local authorities to take steps to prevent eligible people 
from being made homeless when they are threatened by this possibility

Page 8



Commentary

We should welcome the dropping of the requirement to insist on 20% of starter homes 
on all large sites as this allows for a wider range of affordable options to be 
considered.  Nevertheless, I think that they should still be a significant part of the 
District Council’s affordable housing policy moving forward, along with affordable rent 
and shared ownership options.  The Council will need to make important decisions 
soon about the balance it will be seeking to achieve.

It will be disappointing to some that the Government is still pursuing the sale of 
housing association properties to tenants if this is still linked with the Council having to 
sell its higher value assets when they become available.

While there is no detail of how the new duty to prevent eligible people being made 
homeless this could be a very onerous requirement on our housing needs team.  We 
are struggling to deal with our existing duties to deal with people made homeless and 
so it is difficult to see how this new duty will operate if no more homes are available.

8.0 THE CONSULTATION PROCESS

8.1 The Annex to the White Paper sets out a total of 38 questions to which the 
Government invite responses by 2 May 2017.  This Council’s response will be through 
a joint portfolio holder decision by the Housing and Communities and the Planning and 
Transportation Portfolio Holders.  There will be matters of interest to Environment, 
Communities and possibly the Corporate Overview Panels, as well as the Planning 
Development Control Committee, in this White Paper. 

9.0 CRIME AND DISORDER, EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY, ENVIRONMENTAL AND 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1 None arising directly from this report.

10. RECOMMENDATIONS

That Review Panels consider the contents of the White Paper and offer comments to 
the portfolio holders which can help inform their response to the consultation process.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION PLEASE CONTACT BACKGROUND PAPERS:
Chris Elliott, Published Documents
Executive Head, Economy Housing and Planning 
Tel:  023 8028 5588
E-mail:  chris.elliott@nfdc.gov.uk

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 2017/2018

ITEM OBJECTIVE METHOD TIMING/LEAD 
OFFICER

HOUSING 

Welfare Reform To receive an update Report to Panel Ongoing- as and 
when appropriate

Ryan Stevens

Pay to Stay To consider the 
introduction of the 
policy

Presentation to 
Panel

Ongoing- as and 
when appropriate

Ryan 
Stevens/Richard  
Topliss

CRIME & DISORDER

Statutory Nuisance 
Task & Finish 
Group

To consider findings of 
the Group

Report to Panel TBC 

Joanne McClay

Safer New Forest 
Partnership Plan

To consider inputting 
into the Plan

Report to Panel January 2018

Grainne 
O’Rourke/Rosemary 
Rutins

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE

Health & Wellbeing 
of Gypsy, Traveller, 
Romany 
Community

To consider the health 
& wellbeing of the GTR 
particularly young 
people/children in the 
New Forest

Presentation to 
Panel 

June 2017

TBC

HEALTH/LEISURE

Dibden Golf Centre 
– Mytime Active

To consider Task & 
Finish Group findings

Report to Panel March 2017

Colin Read

Progress of the 
Health & Wellbeing 
Board Action Plan

To review the progress 
of the current action 
plan

Report to Panel June 2017

TBC

Leisure Services 
Review

To consider the 
progress of the review

Report to Panel March 2017

Joanne Bailey/Colin 
Read

Page 11

Agenda Item 8



Community Grants To consider Task & 
Finish Group findings

Report to Panel January 2018

Colin Read

Page 12


	Agenda
	4 Key Actions and Service Review Programme Update
	5 Housing White Paper
	8 Work Programme

